FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/27/2022 4:15 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/28/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101412-1
Court of Appeals No. 51414-1-II
Lewis County Superior Court No. 14-2-00917-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

DARCY L. JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LIQUOR
CONTROL BOARD,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

George M. Ahrend WSBA #25160 Ahrend Law Firm PLLC P.O. Box 816 Ephrata, WA 98823-0816 (206) 467-6090	Joseph M. Mano, Jr. WSBA #5728 Mano, Paroutaud, Groberg & Ricks P.O. Box 1123 Chehalis, WA 98532 (360) 748-6641
---	--

Co-Counsel for Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. ***Did Division II misconstrue this Court’s clear precedent regarding an unreasonably dangerous condition created by water on the floor of a business establishment?***

This Court has “long indicated that a floor must have more than an ordinary amount of water on the floor to constitute an unreasonably dangerous condition.” *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 622 (citing *Brant v. Mkt. Basket Stores*, 72 Wn.2d 446, 448-49, 433 P.2d 863 (1967)). However, Division II misconstrued this requirement as referring to the ***quantity*** of water on the floor, rather than the ***dangerousness*** of the condition created by the water on the floor. *Johnson*, 2022 WL 910180, at *3-4. The resulting conflict warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. *Did Division II ignore this Court’s clear precedent regarding the relevance and sufficiency of a prior slip and near-fall to prove unreasonable danger?*

This Court has repeatedly and consistently held that prior slips and falls or near-falls involving other persons at or near the time and place of the plaintiff’s injury are sufficient to prove that a condition is unreasonably dangerous, as the State properly conceded during oral argument in the first appeal. *Bussard v. Fireman’s Fund Indem. Co.*, 44 Wn.2d 417, 420, 267 P.2d 1062 (1954); *O’Dell v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R. Co.*, 6 Wn. App. 817, 826, 496 P.2d 519 (1972); *Turner v. City of Tacoma*, 72 Wn.2d 1029, 1036, 435 P.2d 927 (1967). Prior slips and falls or near-falls are the classic evidence of dangerousness in premises liability cases. However, Division II disregarded testimony from Johnson’s husband Steve Pallas that he slipped on the same spot right before Johnson was injured on grounds that it “does not establish anything about the floor or its properties.” *Johnson*, 2022 WL 910180, at *4. The resulting conflict warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. *Did Division II violate this Court’s clear precedent regarding the nature and limits on reviewing the evidence supporting a jury’s verdict?*

While the nature and limits of substantial evidence review are well established, it is occasionally necessary for this Court to provide a reminder and corrective to lower courts that succumb to the temptation to re-weigh the evidence, despite the limitations on an appellate court’s authority and competence to perform such re-weighing. The Court recently had to provide such correction in reinstating a jury’s damage verdict. *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec*

Inc., 197 Wn.2d 790, 819, 490 P.3d 200 (2021). In this case, the Court is called upon to fulfill this obligation in connection with a jury's liability verdict to honor the constitutional limits on appellate jurisdiction, Wash. Const. Art. IV, § 4, and protect the right to trial by jury, *id.* Art. I, § 21. Yet Division II improperly re-weighed the evidence in this case, and its decision to overturn the jury's verdict and remand for dismissal conflicts with decisions of this Court and presents an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Johnson was injured at a State liquor store on June 18, 2011. She and her husband, Steve Pallas, stopped by the store to purchase a gift for a friend who had done a favor for Johnson's father. RP 145:16-146:14. It had been raining continuously ever since they got up that morning, between 6 and 7 a.m. RP 148:3-4, 178:12-20, 381:1-382:1 & 383:24-25. They arrived at the store approximately 5½ hours later, around 11:30 or 11:45 a.m. RP 383:21-24.

Pallas was walking in front of Johnson, and as soon as he stepped off a mat in the doorway, he slipped. RP 148:12-14 & 173:15-18. He turned around to warn Johnson to be careful, but before he could say anything she fell down. RP 148:14-16. After

she fell, Johnson's pants were wet from water on the floor.

RP 384:23-385:5 & 452:17-23. Both Pallas and Johnson were wearing Georgia "Romeo" shoes with grippy rubber soles.

RP 146:17-147:22 & Ex. 4. The floor was waxed linoleum that had been polished the night before. RP 92:20-93:5, 175:22-176:1 & 562:3-565:12.

The store manager, Jay Smiley, saw Johnson fall out of the corner of his eye. RP 91:14-18. The store opened around 9 or 10 a.m., and Smiley arrived $\frac{1}{2}$ hour before opening. RP 89:6-19. The store had been open for approximately $1\frac{1}{2}$ to $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours before Johnson and Pallas came in. The store was busy because it was a Saturday. RP 91:8-11 & 95:11-16. Normally, the store had 700-800 customers on Saturdays. RP 95:8-10.

Smiley testified that he did not remember how long it had been raining and acknowledged that it could have been raining when he arrived for work, which was approximately 2-3 hours before Johnson fell. RP 89:25-90:9. Smiley admitted there might have been mud, sand, dirt, or even gravel on the floor because

“[r]ainy days *always* bring muddy footprints.” RP 97:9-13

(brackets & emphasis added). It was common for customers to enter the store with wet feet anytime it was wet outside. RP 105:24-106:3. Due to the lack of an awning over the sidewalks leading to the entrance of the building, customers’ “feet get wet and it comes in the store.” RP 108:7-12. “The water would come in with them.” RP 109:15-16.

One of Smiley’s job duties was to put out a highly visible yellow sign warning customers that the floor of the store is “slippery when wet” whenever it rains:

Q. [Counsel] As part of your duties to—is to put out a very visible yellow sign that says, “*slippery when wet*”?

A. [Smiley] Yes.

Q. Right?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that your duty to do that?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you told me, did you not, in your deposition that what—*I asked you what triggers that responsibility, that need to put it out. And you told me what?*

A. *When it rains.*

RP 90:15-91:2 (brackets & emphasis added).

Q. [Counsel] And the purpose of putting that sign out is to prevent people from falling; isn’t that correct?

A. [Smiley] It's a warning sign, yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And it doesn't say, "wet floor." It says, "*floor slippery when wet*"?

A. Correct.

Q. *And that is put out when you have a need, and that need is when it rains?*

A. *Yes, sir.*

RP 108:13-21 (brackets & emphasis added). The warning sign was needed "[j]ust as soon as it started raining." RP 110:7-10 (brackets added).

On the day Johnson was injured, Smiley acknowledged that he failed to put out the warning sign, even though it had been raining. RP 91:3-7 & 108:19-23. He did not take the time to do so because he was the only person working in the store and he was busy helping other customers. RP 91:8-11 & 95:17-19.

After Johnson rested, the State moved the trial court for judgment as a matter of law, arguing there was insufficient evidence of negligence. RP 472:25-479:10. The trial court denied the motion, reasoning as follows:

there is sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find the defendant liable. I understand that the state is arguing that Mr. Smiley was not put on notice because nobody knows whether or not there was water on the floor.

However, there was some testimony from the plaintiff that her pants were wet. There could be a reasonable inference that there was water on the floor from the jury. *And I think also the fact that Mr. Smiley did testify that when Mr. Mano asked him, when does the danger start? The danger starts when it rains. And so when it rains, he said that it's their -- not duty, but he said it was their policy and practice to put the sign out when it rains.* He said he saw it raining. About 15 minutes later, he was helping customers, and he didn't have the opportunity to put it out. I think based on that testimony there could be a reasonable inference from the jury that Mr. Smiley knew or should have known of the dangers there.

RP 484:17-485:10 (emphasis added).

After the close of evidence, the trial court instructed the jury regarding the State's liability, using instructions adapted from the Washington Pattern Instructions, all of which were either proposed or agreed-to by the State. CP 512, 515, 517-20. Under these instructions, the jury found that the State was negligent and returned a verdict in Johnson's favor. CP 527. The jury rejected the State's defense that Johnson was contributorily negligent. CP 528.

Post-trial, the State filed another motion for judgment as a matter of law, arguing that there was insufficient evidence of

constructive notice of the slippery condition of the floor. CP 546-51. Among other things, Johnson urged the court to apply the reasonably foreseeable standard of liability for business customers as urged by a 4-Justice plurality of this Court in *Iwai*. CP 625; RP 1023:21-1026:9. The trial court again denied the State's motion and explained:

There was sufficient evidence for the trier of fact to infer notice based on Smiley's testimony that it was store practice to put the sign up upon rain. That was his testimony. I have gone through his transcript several times and his testimony is that when it rained, it was store practice that the sign went out. He admitted in this particular situation that he waited 15 minutes after knowing that it was raining. He said that he knew it was raining, he waited 15 minutes. He didn't put the sign out. He admitted in his testimony that he should have put the sign out as soon as it started raining but that he didn't. *There was also testimony from the plaintiff that there was water on the floor. There was testimony from Mr. Pallas that he had slipped when he entered as well. And furthermore, the fact that it was store practice to put out the sign, the jury could logically infer from that that the state had knowledge that the rain presented a hazard. So obviously if it's their practice to put out a sign when it's raining, they obviously had some kind of knowledge that the rain and the slip -- the floor would present a hazard that they were aware of. And I think it's very obvious that the jury could infer all of this, given the jury's verdict, as Mr. Mano pointed out, it was a unanimous verdict. All*

12 agreed. So I think that that also goes to the fact that it was easily inferred that there was notice.

RP 1044:5-1045:8 (emphasis added).

The State appealed the judgment entered on the jury's verdict. CP 638-46. Division II initially reversed the trial court on grounds that there was insufficient evidence of constructive notice of the dangerous condition resulting from water on the floor. *Johnson*, 2019 WL 4187744, at *3. However, this Court reversed Division II "because Johnson presented evidence of the reasonable foreseeability of an unreasonably dangerous condition." *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 622. On remand, Division II ruled that "there is *no evidence* that an unreasonably dangerous condition actually existed" and overturned the jury's verdict. *Johnson*, 2022 WL 910180, at *1 (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division II ignored clear precedent from this Court regarding both the standard for proof of dangerousness and the standard for conducting substantial evidence review. The State admittedly owed a duty to exercise reasonable care to protect

customers like Johnson from dangerous conditions because, as a store owner, the State has given an “implied assurance” that the premises are safe. *McKinnon v. Washington Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 68 Wn.2d 644, 649, 414 P.2d 773 (1966). The State admits that the jury was properly instructed regarding this duty, including a special instruction that “[t]he presence of water on the floor where the plaintiff slipped is not enough to prove negligence The plaintiff must prove that water makes the floor dangerously slippery[.]” CP 520 (ellipsis & brackets added). Under these instructions the jury determined that the condition created by water on the floor of the State’s store was “dangerously slippery,” and there is ample evidence in the record to support the jury’s verdict. The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

- A. Division II's decision conflicts with decisions of this Court regarding proof of dangerousness, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).**
 - 1. Division II improperly focused on the *quantity* of water rather than the *dangerousness* of the condition created by water on the floor.**

In its prior decision in this case, the Court noted “that a floor must have more than an ordinary amount of water on the floor to constitute an unreasonably dangerous condition.” *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 622 (citing *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448-49).

While an extraordinary amount of water on the floor may suffice to prove dangerousness, dangerousness does not hinge on the quantity of water. As stated in *Brant*:

The defendant owed to its invitees in its place of business the duty of maintaining its store in a reasonably safe condition. What is a reasonably safe condition depends upon the nature of the business conducted and the circumstances surrounding the particular situation

The plaintiff in this case has proven no more than that she slipped and fell on a wet floor and sustained certain injuries in consequence thereof. *Our cases indicate that something more must be proved to establish that the defendant had permitted a situation dangerous to its invitees to exist.*

72 Wn.2d at 451 (ellipsis & emphasis added); *see also id.* at 448 (acknowledging evidence of the amount of water but distinguishing it from evidence that water made the floor slippery or dangerous); *id.* at 451 (noting that the missing evidence on dangerousness related to “the type of floor and the effect of water on it”). It is not the case that water is never a dangerous condition, nor is it the case that water is always a dangerous condition.

Charlton v. Toys R Us, 158 Wn. App. 906, 915, 246 P.3d 199 (2010). The plaintiff is simply obligated to submit proof of dangerousness beyond the bare fact that the floor was wet. *Id.*, 158 Wn. App. at 915.

Dangerousness may be established by direct or circumstantial evidence. Circumstantial evidence refers to evidence that supports an inference based on common sense and experience. 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 1.03 (7th ed.). “The law makes no distinction between the weight to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence” and “[o]ne is not necessarily more or less valuable than the

other.” *Lockwood v. AC & S, Inc.*, 109 Wn.2d 235, 269, 744 P.2d 605 (1987).

In this case, Johnson satisfied her burden of proving dangerousness based on the following facts:

- the State’s admitted need to put out a “slippery when wet” warning sign whenever it rained;
- the content of the warning sign confirming that the floor was indeed slippery when wet;
- Pallas slipped and nearly fell immediately before Johnson slipped and fell;
- evidence establishing the existence and amount of water and mud on the floor when Johnson slipped and fell;
- both Pallas and Johnson were wearing grippy rubber soled shoes when they slipped; and
- the store’s waxed linoleum floor had been polished the night before.

In combination, if not alone, these facts are more than sufficient to support the jury’s verdict.

The State’s store manager, Jay Smiley, conceded that a warning sign needed to be put out whenever it rained. RP 108:19-21. Rain triggers the **need** to put the sign out. RP 90:24-91:2. The

need arises “[j]ust as soon as it started raining.” RP 110:7-10 (brackets added). This testimony supports an inference that the warning sign was placed in recognition of the danger resulting from rainwater on the floor, rather than as a mere precaution. The trial court judge who presided at trial interpreted the testimony this way and relied on it in denying the State’s motion for judgment as a matter of law: “Mr. Smiley did testify that when Mr. Mano asked him, when does the danger start? The danger starts when it rains.” RP 484:24-485:2. This is sufficient evidence of dangerousness to support the jury’s verdict.

Apart from the State’s acknowledgment that the sign needed to be put out whenever it rained, the *content* of the warning sign confirms the existence of the danger resulting from rainwater on the floor. The sign states “***floor slippery when wet.***” RP 108:16-18 (emphasis added). It does not merely state “wet floor.” *Id.* The ordinary meaning of “slippery” is “causing one to slide or fall down.” *Webster’s Third New Int’l Dictionary*, s.v. “slippery” (2002). The content of the sign is tantamount to an

admission that water makes the floor where Johnson fell dangerous and further supports the jury's verdict.

The fact that Pallas also slipped as he entered the State's store confirms that the floor was dangerous. Pallas was walking in front of Johnson and, as soon as he stepped off a mat in the doorway, he slipped. RP 148:11-16. He turned around to warn Johnson to be careful, but before he could say anything she fell down. *Id.* As noted below, this is classic evidence of dangerousness supporting the jury's verdict.

Finally, Johnson presented evidence regarding both the existence and amount of water and mud on the floor where Johnson fell. It started raining between 6 and 7 a.m. that morning. RP 148:3-4, 178:12-20, 381:1-382:1 & 383:24-25. Johnson and Pallas arrived at the State store approximately 5½ hours later, around 11:30 or 11:45 a.m. RP 383:21-24. The store had had already been open for 1½ to 2½ hours before they arrived. RP 89:6-19. The store was busy because it was a Saturday, when it normally had 700 to 800 customers. RP 91:8-11 & 95:8-16.

“Rainy days *always* bring muddy footprints” into the store. RP 97:11 (emphasis added). Due to the lack of an awning over the sidewalks leading to the entrance of the building, customers’ “feet get wet and it comes in the store.” RP 108:7-12. “[W]henever it was wet out [t]he water would come in with them.” RP 109:15-16 (ellipsis & brackets added). This occurred “any time it was wet outside.” RP 105:24-106:3. After she fell, Johnson’s pants absorbed water from the floor. RP 384:23-385:5 & 452:17-23.

The length of time it had been raining, the length of time the store had been open, the amount of customer traffic, the fact that customers always brought water and mud into the store when it rained, and the fact that Johnson’s pants were wet after she fell, combine to support an inference that there was a dangerous amount of water on the floor, adding to the other evidence of dangerousness before the jury. *Cf. Vanderwoude v. Safeway Inc.*, 2022 WL 59719, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 6, 2022) (interpreting this Court’s decision in *Johnson* as “suggesting that water

tracked into a store by customers could, if proven, constitute an unreasonably dangerous condition”).

However, Division II’s decision below focused on the *quantity* rather than the dangerousness of the water on the floor. *Johnson*, 2022 WL 910180, at *3 (referring to “evidence of a more than ordinary amount of water on the floor”); *id.* at *4 (“there is absolutely no evidence that there was *any* water on the floor when Johnson fell, let alone that there was an extraordinary, uncommon, or unreasonable amount of water on the floor”; emphasis in original); *id.* at *4 (“Johnson has not shown that there was any water on the floor when she fell; thus, there is no evidence to show that there was any, let alone an extraordinary amount of, water on the floor”); *id.* at *4 (“she has failed to establish that there was an extraordinary or uncommon amount of water on the floor that would create an unreasonably dangerous condition”).

Division II disregarded the other evidence of dangerousness in the record based on the perceived quantity of

water on the floor. *Id.* at *4 (“Pallas’ testimony does not establish that the floor was even wet before Johnson fell in store because he did not see any water on the floor”); *id.* at *4 (noting the store manager, Pallas, and Johnson did not see water before Johnson fell).

Division II’s perception of the quantity of water on the floor is contrary to the record—given the length of time it had been raining, the length of time the store had been open, the amount of customer traffic, the fact that customers always brought water and mud into the store when it rained, and the fact that Johnson’s pants were wet after she fell—discussed in more detail in part B below.

Just as importantly, Division II’s focus on the quantity of water on the floor as the measure of dangerousness is also contrary to this Court’s prior decision in this case as well as *Brant*, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. Division II improperly discounted the relevance and sufficiency of a prior slip and near-fall as evidence of dangerousness.

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