FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/22/2022 10:11 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1014121

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DARCY L. JOHNSON, a single woman,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD,

Respondent.

### STATE RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael J. Throgmorton WSBA # 44263 Law Lyman Daniel Kamerrer & Bogdanovich, PS 2674 RW Johnson Rd. Tumwater, WA 98512 P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508-1880 Phone: (360) 764-7733 mthrogmorton@lldkb.com

### **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Johnson identifies no conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion and any decision of this Court. As this Court has repeatedly held, wet floors are not an inherently dangerous condition. *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448-49; *Merrick v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 67 Wn.2d 426, 429, 407 P.2d 960 (1965); *Shumaker v. Charada Inv. Co.*, 183 Wash. 521, 530-31, 49 P.2d 44 (1935). In this case, Johnson simply failed to offer any evidence, direct or circumstantial, establishing that this particular floor was unreasonably dangerous.

Nor did the Court of Appeals impermissibly "re-weigh" the evidence as Johnson alleges. Pet. for Rev. at 22. The Court of Appeals simply considered whether Johnson presented sufficient evidence to sustain a verdict in her favor – a routine act that it performs every day – and found that she did not. Because Johnson's failure of proof does not present an issue of substantial public importance, review should be denied.

### A. Johnson's Failure to Provide Evidence that the Floor was Unreasonably Dangerous Does Not Merit Review.

Johnson does not identify a decision of this Court with which the Court of Appeals decision conflicts under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Instead, she argues the Court of Appeals erroneously focused on the amount of water on the floor rather than its dangerousness, and she points to circumstantial evidence from which she argues the jury could have inferred that the floor was dangerous. Pet. for Rev. at 12-14. But as the Court of Appeals found, Johnson failed to provide evidence that there was any water on the floor, much less that water would have made the floor unreasonably dangerous. *Johnson*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*4. Regardless, none of the evidence Johnson cites supports an inference that the floor was unreasonably dangerous. This Court should therefore deny review.

## 1. Johnson Provided No Evidence That There Was Water or Any Other Foreign Substance on the Floor Before She Fell.

Washington law is clear that water on a floor alone is not an unreasonably dangerous condition, and no inference of

negligence may be drawn from it. *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448-49; *Merrick*, 67 Wn.2d at 429; *Shumaker*, 183 Wash. at 530-31. Water along with some other foreign substance may permit an inference of dangerousness. *See*, *e.g.*, *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448-49; *Hooser v. Loyal Order of Moose, Inc.*, 69 Wn.2d 1, 416 P.2d 462 (1966) (wax); *Messina v. Rhodes Co.*, 67 Wn.2d 19, 406 P.2d 312 (1965) (sand, mud, and water); *Presnell v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 60 Wn.2d 671, 374 P.2d 939 (1962) (banana peel). In any event, there must be evidence that some combination of water and/or a foreign substance made the floor unreasonably dangerous. *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448-49.

In this case, Johnson provided none. Despite the fact that his register sat adjacent to the entryway, the clerk testified he never saw any water on the floor from the time he opened the store at 10:00 a.m. until 11:30 a.m. when Johnson fell. RP 95-98. Pallas likewise testified he never saw water or any other foreign substance on the floor before or after Johnson fell. RP 174. Johnson too admitted that she did not see any water on the floor

before she fell. RP 446. She testified only that her pant leg was wet after she fell and that she "assumed" it was from water that had been absorbed from the floor. RP 385. As the Court of Appeals recently held, however, neither the wetness of Johnson's pant leg after she fell nor her assumption that it was made wet by water that had been on the floor before she fell is sufficient to support an inference that the floor was unreasonably dangerous. See Yamada v. Earl's Restaurant (Bellevue), Inc., 22 Wn. App. 2d 1058 (2022) (unpublished) (holding that wet spots on the clothes of a patron who fell in a restaurant were insufficient to establish the existence of a dangerous condition).

Johnson points to the clerk's testimony that, in general, "rainy days always bring muddy footprints." RP 97. But she offered no evidence that muddy footprints had actually been tracked into the store before she fell, and the only witnesses who testified to the condition of the floor – Johnson, Pallas, and Smiley – saw no such thing. RP 174, RP 446, RP 97-98.

Based on this lack of evidence, and following this Court's reasoning in *Brant*, the Court of Appeals found "Johnson has not shown that there was any water on the floor when she fell; thus, there is no evidence to show that there was any, let alone an extraordinary amount of, water on the floor." *Johnson*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*4. Because Johnson identifies no decision of this Court with which that determination conflicts, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## 2. Johnson Provided No Circumstantial Evidence from Which It Could Be Inferred that the Floor Was Unreasonably Dangerous.

Johnson identifies no authority contradicting the Court of Appeals' determination that she failed to submit sufficient circumstantial evidence from which an inference of dangerousness could be drawn. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 12-19. She quotes the store's "slippery when wet" sign, along with the clerk's testimony that it was "needed" whenever it rained. Pet. for Rev. at 14-15. She argues mere *possession* of such a sign is "tantamount to an admission" that the floor was unreasonably

dangerous when wet. Pet. for Rev. at 15-16. She cites to testimony that the store's floor had recently been "polished." Pet. for Rev. at 14. And she points to the fact that Pallas slipped a split-second before her as evidence of dangerousness; evidence she claims the Court of Appeals erroneously "disregarded." Pet. for Rev. at 20-21. None of these facts, standing alone or in combination, support an inference that the floor was unreasonably dangerous.

a. The store's possession of a sign saying "slippery when wet" is not evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Johnson's argument that the store's ownership of a "slippery when wet" sign supports an inference of dangerousness. Pet. for Rev. at 15-16 (arguing "[t]he content of the sign is tantamount to an admission that water makes the floor where [she] fell dangerous"). Johnson cites no authority for this argument, and what authority there is suggests the contrary. *See Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 911-15 (finding insufficient evidence of negligence

even where the store had placed out large yellow cones stating "Caution, Wet Floor"). Regardless, the store did not write the content of the sign, nor had it adopted the content of the sign by owning it. Mere possession of such a sign is not evidence of anything; nearly all retail establishments possess such signs for use when their floors become wet to warn customers that the floor may be slippery. That, however, is not evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition. As this Court has repeatedly held, not all wet or slippery floors support liability. Brant, 72 Wn.2d 450; *Merrick*, 67 Wn.2d at 428; *Shumaker*, 183 Wash. at 530. Only floors that are unreasonably dangerous do. *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 619-20; Wiltse v. Albertson's, Inc., 116 Wn.2d 452, 459-60, 805 P.2d 793 (1991); Kalinowski v. Young Women's Christian Ass'n, 17 Wn.2d 380, 391, 135 P.2d 852 (1943).

To prove that the floor was unreasonably dangerous, Johnson bore the burden of producing evidence that it "presented an unreasonable risk of harm." *Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 915. As the Court of Appeals held, the "slippery when wet" sign "does

not prove that the wet floor was so slippery that it created an unreasonably dangerous condition." *Johnson*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*3. Nor does mere possession of the sign "prove that the floor actually was wet and slippery when Johnson entered." *Id*.

b. Smiley's testimony that the "slippery when wet" sign was "needed" whenever it rained is not evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition.

The Court of Appeals also properly rejected Johnson's argument that the rain coupled with Smiley's testimony that the sign was "needed" whenever it rained was evidence that the floor was unreasonably dangerous. Pet. for Rev. at 14-15. Smiley testified it was his practice to put out the sign whenever it rained as a precaution, whether the floor was wet or not. RP 109. Such prophylactic measures are not evidence of dangerousness because they are not triggered by, and exist independently of, an actual danger. *Charlton*, 158 Wn. App. at 915 (citing *Kangley v. United States*, 788 F.2d 533, 534-35 (9th Cir. 1986)). As Smiley's testimony made clear, the sign was "needed" only to

comply with precautionary best practices, not due to any special characteristic of the floors or existing hazard. RP 98, 109.

"To prove negligence, the plaintiff must prove that water makes the floor dangerously slippery . . . and that there was water on the floor at the time the plaintiff slipped." *Wiltse*, 116 Wn.2d at 459-60 (quoting *Kangley*, 788 F.2d at 534-35). Anything less "would place an intolerable burden on businesses in areas . . . where it is often wet outside." *Id*. As the Court of Appeals correctly found, Smiley's testimony did not meet that burden.

## c. Johnson proffered no evidence that the store's maintenance of the floor made it unreasonably dangerous.

Even if Johnson had provided evidence regarding the store's floor maintenance – and she did not – that evidence would not show that the floor was unreasonably dangerous on the day she fell. Johnson describes the floor as having been "waxed linoleum" which "had been polished the night before." Pet. for Rev. at 5. However, Johnson offered no evidence the floor had been waxed, and the store's maintenance contractor, Jason

Billings, testified that the last time he serviced the floors prior to Johnson's fall was March 29, 2011, eighty-three days before she fell. RP 560-61. Billings further testified that the process of burnishing the floors did not require application of any slip-resistant material because it only involved running a buffer over the floor to clean it. RP 559. He distinguished the process of burnishing from refinishing, which is performed "once every couple of years" and which does involve the application of wax. RP 564-565. He did not testify that he had waxed the floor prior to Johnson's fall, and he testified that even if he had, wax does not make the floor slippery. RP 565.

Against this, Johnson offered no percipient testimony or expert opinion that the characteristics of the floor or the store's maintenance made it unreasonably dangerous, with or without water on it. Absent such testimony, Johnson offered no evidence that the store's maintenance of the floor made it unreasonably dangerous.

# d. Pallas's slip a step ahead of Johnson's fall does not support an inference that the floor was unreasonably dangerous.

Johnson cites no case from Washington's wet-floor jurisprudence establishing that Pallas's near-simultaneous slip was evidence that the floor was unreasonably dangerous. Setting aside the fact that Pallas did not fall, the Court of Appeals did not "disregard" his testimony as Johnson claims. Pet. for Rev. at 20-21. In fact, the Court of Appeals cited Pallas's testimony in finding Johnson failed to provide evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition. Johnson, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*2. Regardless, none of the cases Johnson cites are slip-and-fall cases applicable to Washington's wet-floor jurisprudence. See Pet. for Rev. at 20-21 (citing Bussard v. Fireman's Fund Indem. Co., 44 Wn.2d 417, 267 P.2d 1062 (1954); O'Dell v. Chicago, M., St. P. &. P. Ry. Co., 6 Wn. App. 817, 496 P.2d 519 (1972); and Turner v. City of Tacoma, 72 Wn.2d 1029, 435 P.2d 927 (1967). Under that jurisprudence, "negligence cannot be inferred from a fall alone." *Brant*, 72 Wn.2d at 448 (citing *Merrick*, 67 Wn.2d at 429)).

In *Bussard*, a widow sought to collect on a life insurance policy after her husband was found dead near a rail line. *Bussard*, 44 Wn.2d at 418. The insurance company denied coverage, claiming his death was a suicide. *Id*. At trial, the deputy sheriff who investigated testified that when he visited the location months later, he fell in the same area, spraining his wrist. *Id*. at 420. Affirming the trial court's refusal to strike the testimony and award a new trial, this Court stated that the dangerous condition of the rail line ballast "could be shown by evidence of the slipping of persons other than the deceased." *Id*.

Bussard is not remotely analogous. It did not involve a wet floor, it was not a slip-and-fall case, and the deputy who fell in the same location testified he fell fifteen months *after* the incident. *Id.* at 419. Moreover, the issue in *Bussard* was the admissibility of the sheriff's testimony, not whether it was sufficient to support a verdict for the plaintiff. *Id.* at 420.

O'Dell is likewise inapposite. In that case, the plaintiff, whose motorcycle struck the side of a train in dense fog, produced evidence of one prior accident and three "near-accidents." O'Dell, 6 Wn. App. at 820. Finding that admission of the prior "near-accidents" was not an abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals held that "[p]roof of other accidents at the same crossing at other times . . . may be received for the purpose of showing the existence of a dangerous condition." Id. at 826 (emphasis added).

Like *Bussard*, *O'Dell* was not a slip-and-fall case. Moreover, like *Bussard*, *O'Dell* merely held that it was not an abuse of discretion to admit evidence of prior near accidents, not that they were sufficient to support a verdict in favor of the plaintiff. *O'Dell*, 6 Wn. App. at 820. And, crucially, the prior near-accidents in *O'Dell* were "at other times," and thus showed the character of the crossing itself as dangerous, not at virtually the same time as the accident at issue, as Pallas's slip was here.

Finally, *Turner* is likewise inapplicable. There, the plaintiff walked into a fire escape that obstructed a sidewalk. *Turner*, 72 Wn.2d at 1031. The City's negligence was "definitely established" because the fire escape violated state law and the City's municipal code, so the only issue was the contributory negligence of the plaintiff. *Id.* at 1031-35. After remanding for retrial on that issue, the Court held that evidence of prior accidents under similar circumstances was admissible for the purpose of proving that the fire escape constituted a dangerous condition. *Id.* at 1036.

Like *Bussard* and *O'Dell*, *Turner* is not a slip-and-fall case. The issue in *Turner* was again the admissibility of evidence, not whether such evidence, if offered, would have been sufficient to sustain a verdict in favor of the plaintiff. *Id.* at 1036. And the "prior accidents" found admissible were again on prior occasions and thus tended to show that the character of the sidewalk itself was dangerous; there was no argument that the plaintiff's brother, who had been with her, had also struck the fire escape,

or that such evidence would have been sufficient to sustain a finding of dangerousness.

Unlike Bussard, O'Dell, and Turner, Johnson offered evidence not of a prior fall, but of a simultaneous slip. Citing Pallas's own testimony that he "never personally saw water on the floor," the Court of Appeals found that slip insufficient to establish negligence. Johnson 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*4 (noting Pallas's testimony "does not establish that the floor was even wet before Johnson fell in the store [nor does it] establish anything about the floor or its properties that would establish [it] was unreasonably slippery when wet"). Johnson identifies no decision of this Court with which that finding conflicts, particularly in light of her admission that any such water could have come from her own shoes or those of Pallas, with whom she had visited eight to ten garage sales that morning in the rain. RP 170-72; 441; 447. Review is therefore not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

### B. Johnson Fails To Show An Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

This Court remanded this case to the Court of Appeals to determine whether Johnson offered sufficient evidence of an unreasonably dangerous condition. *Johnson*, 197 Wn.2d at 621-22. The Court of Appeals did exactly that and found that she did not. *Johnson*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1041 at \*4. Nevertheless, Johnson now argues the Court of Appeals exceeded the scope of its review by "re-weighing the evidence" and that this represents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. for Rev. at 22-25.

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